

dated 2018

Huntingdonshire District Council and

HDC Ventures Limited

Shareholders' Agreement

in relation to HDC Ventures Limited

Trowers & Hamlins LLP 3 Bunhill Row London EC1Y 8YZ t +44 (0)20 7423 8000 f +44 (0)20 7423 8001 www.trowers.com

Contents		Page	
1	Interpretation and definitions	3	
2	Completion	5	
3	The business of the Company	5	
4	Conduct of the Company's affairs	5	
5	The Board of Directors	6	
6	Finance for the Company	7	
7	Matters requiring the consent of each of the Shareholders	7	
8	Production of accounts	8	
9	Anti-corruption	8	
11	Conflict with the New Articles	9	
12	No fetter	9	
13	Duration and termination	10	
14	Confidentiality	10	
15	General	12	
16	Assignment	14	
17	No partnership or agency	14	
18	Notices	14	
19	Counterparts	15	
20	Applicable law	15	
Schedule 1 - Deed of Adherence		17	

Shareholders' agreement

dated 2018

Parties

- (1) **Huntingdonshire District Council** having its principal place of business at Pathfinder House, St. Mary's Street, Huntingdon, PE29 3TN (the Council);
- (2) **HDC Ventures Limited** a company incorporated and registered in England and Wales with registered number 10861098 whose registered office is at Pathfinder House, St. Mary's Street, Huntingdon, PE29 3TN (the **Company**).

Introduction

- (A) The Company was incorporated under the Companies Act 2006 on 11 July 2017 as a private company limited by shares. At the date of this Agreement the Company has issued 100,000 Shares which are registered in the name of and are beneficially owned by the Council.
- (B) This Agreement sets out the terms and conditions on which the Council will participate in the Company as its shareholder and is made pursuant to the Council's powers under Sections 1 and 4 of the Localism Act 2011 and the Local Government (Contracts) Act 1997, section 1.

Agreed terms

- 1 Interpretation and definitions
- 1.1 In this Agreement

Articles means the articles of association of the Company, as may be amended or replaced from time to time;

Annual Accounts Date means the accounting reference date of the Company from time to time:

Associate means, in relation to any party to this Agreement, any person, firm or company which is a connected person (within the meaning of section 1122 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010) of such party or which is an associated company of such party within the meaning of section 449 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010;

Board of Directors means the board of directors of the Company;

Board Meeting means a meeting of the Board of Directors;

Business means the business of the Company described in clause 3 or anything which is contemplated by the Business Plan and such other business as the Shareholders may agree from time to time in writing should be carried on by the Company;

Business Day means a day other than a Saturday or Sunday or public holiday in England and Wales:

Business Plan means the business plan for the Company in the agreed form and any subsequent business plan agreed by the Board of Directors in accordance with clause 3 and applicable from time to time;

Completion means completion of the allotment and issue of A Shares and B Shares in accordance with clause 2;

Deed of Adherence means a deed of adherence in substantially the same form as set out in schedule 1;

Director means any director for the time being of the Company, including where applicable any alternate director;

Environmental Information Regulations means the Environmental Information Regulations 2004;

FOIA means the Freedom of Information Act 2000:

Group means in relation to a company that company and any company which is a Parent Undertaking of that company or a Subsidiary Undertaking of that company or of such Parent Undertaking; and the expression Group Member shall be construed accordingly;

Parent Undertaking means a parent undertaking as defined in section 1162 of the Companies Act 2006;

Shareholder means the Council and/or any person to whom they may properly transfer any Shares in accordance with this Agreement and who enters into a Deed of Adherence agreeing to be bound by the terms of this Agreement;

Shares means the ordinary shares of £1 each in the Capital of the Company; and

Subsidiary Undertaking means a subsidiary undertaking as defined in section 1162 of the Companies Act 2006.

- 1.2 Any reference to a statute or statutory provision is a reference to it as it is in force from time to time, taking account of any change, extension, consolidation or re-enactment and includes any subordinate legislation for the time being in force made under it.
- 1.3 Clause headings in this Agreement are for convenience only and do not affect the construction of any provision.
- 1.4 References to any gender shall include the other genders and references to the singular shall include the plural and vice versa.
- 1.5 Any reference to a person (which for the purposes of this Agreement shall include a firm, unincorporated association, body corporate, government, state or agency of state, any association or partnership or joint venture (whether or not having a separate legal personality)) shall include its successors in title.
- 1.6 Any reference to a document **in the agreed form** shall be a reference to that document in the form agreed and initialled by or on behalf of each of the Shareholders for the purpose of identification and attached to this Agreement.

2 Completion

- 2.1 Completion shall take place immediately following execution of this Agreement, when the parties shall procure that meetings of the Company and the Board of Directors are held as may be necessary to:
 - 2.1.1 appoint NatWest as bankers to the Company; and
 - 2.1.2 resolve that the Company's financial year shall end on 31 March in each year.

3 The business of the Company

- 3.1 The Shareholder acknowledges and agrees that unless and until they agree otherwise, the business of the Company shall be initially to act as a holding company in relation to its Subsidiary Undertakings from time to time, and subsequently, in accordance with a Business Plan on sound commercial profit-making principles so as to generate the maximum achievable maintainable profits available for distribution.
- 3.2 The Business Plan shall be resolved upon by the Board and replaced on a rolling basis annually in respect of the coming financial year and the next three financial years and superseded or modified from time to time.
- 3.3 The Company will make decisions relating to the overall strategy for its Subsidiary Undertakings and their respective businesses and will communicate such decisions to those Subsidiary Undertakings.
- 3.4 Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, the Shareholder understands and agrees that the Company shall use all reasonable and proper means to maintain and improve the Business.

4 Conduct of the Company's affairs

- 4.1 With the exception of those matters requiring the Shareholders consent pursuant to clause 7, the day-to-day management of the Company shall be vested in the Directors. Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, the Directors will determine the general policies of the Company and the manner in which the Business is to be carried out to those matters requiring the Shareholders consent pursuant to clause 7 and to any other express provisions of this Agreement. In particular, but without limitation to the generality of the foregoing, the Directors will shall exercise all voting rights and other powers of control available to them in relation to the Company so as to procure (in so far as they are able in the exercise of such rights and power) that, at all times during the term of this Agreement, the Company shall:
 - 4.1.1 carry on and conduct its business and affairs in a proper and efficient manner, for its own benefit and in accordance with good business practices, and
 - 4.1.2 transact all its business on arm's length terms.
- 4.2 The Company shall not carry out any activity which would render the holding of Shares by any Shareholder unlawful provided that where a proposed change of law would render

such shareholding unlawful such Shareholder will use all reasonable endeavours to take such steps as are necessary to allow it to continue lawfully to hold its Shares.

- 4.3 The Company will if it requires any approval, consent or licence for the carrying on of its Business in the manner in which it is from time to time carried on or proposed to be carried on, use all reasonable endeavours to obtain and maintain the same in full force and effect.
- The Company shall permit any Director to discuss the affairs, finances and accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries with any Shareholder's designated officers and executives at any time. All books, records, accounts and documents relating to the business and the affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries shall be open to the inspection of any such person, who shall be entitled to make any copies thereof as he or she deems appropriate to keep the relevant Shareholder properly informed about the business and affairs of the Company or to protect its interests as a Shareholder. Any confidential information secured as a consequence of such discussions and examinations shall be kept confidential by the requesting Shareholder and its designated officers and executives in accordance with the terms of clause 14.
- 4.5 The Company agrees with the Shareholder(s) that it will maintain effective and appropriate control systems in relation to the financial, accounting and record-keeping functions of the Group and will generally keep the Shareholder(s) informed of the progress of each Group Member's business and affairs and in particular will procure that each Shareholder is given such information and such access to the officers, employees and premises of the Group as it may reasonably require for the purposes of enabling it to monitor its investment in the Group and to comply with its obligations under the Prudential Code for Local Authorities.
- 4.6 The Company shall itself comply with and assist the Shareholder comply with its statutory obligations relating to propriety, governance, public procurement or state aid in force from time to time and any other legal obligations insofar as such obligations arise from the Company's legal or contractual relationship with the Council.
- 4.7 Any reference to a statute or statutory provision is a reference to it as it is in force from time to time, taking account of any change, extension, consolidation or re-enactment and includes any subordinate legislation for the time being in force made under it
- 4.8 Each Shareholder shall take all such steps and do all such acts and things as may be necessary or desirable, including, without limitation, exercising all voting and other rights and powers of control available to it, in relation to the Company so as to procure (insofar as it is able to do so by the exercise of those rights and powers) that at all times during the term of this Agreement:
 - 4.8.1 the Company is managed in accordance with the objectives and provisions of this Agreement; and
 - 4.8.2 the Company performs and complies with all obligations on its part under this Agreement and the Articles.

5 The Board of Directors

5.1 A Board Meeting shall be held no less than once in every three calendar months.

5.2 Unless otherwise agreed by all the Directors, at least 5 Business Days' notice shall be given to each of the Directors of all Board Meetings. The notice convening a Board Meeting shall include an agenda specifying in reasonable detail the matters to be discussed, together with any relevant papers for discussion at such meeting.

6 Finance for the Company

- 6.1 If the Company requires capital, the Company may request such capital from the Shareholder **provided that** the Shareholder shall not be obliged to provide any guarantee or security in respect of any indebtedness of the Company or to put up the finance concerned.
- 6.2 If the Company requires further capital, the Company shall endeavour to obtain such finance from a third party lender on the best terms which could reasonably be expected to be obtained in the open market **provided that** the Shareholder shall not be obliged to provide any guarantee or security in respect of any indebtedness of the Company or to put up the finance concerned.

7 Matters requiring the consent of the Shareholder

- 7.1 Each Shareholder shall take all such steps and do all such acts and things as may be necessary or desirable, including, without limitation, exercising all voting and other rights and powers of control available to it in relation to the Company or any Subsidiary Undertaking, so as to procure (insofar as it is able to do so by the exercise of those rights and powers) that at all times during the term of this Agreement no action shall be taken or resolution passed by the Company or any Subsidiary Undertaking in respect of any of the following matters except with the prior written consent of the Shareholder(s):
 - 7.1.1 the making of any material change in the nature of the Business or the jurisdiction in which it is managed and controlled;
 - 7.1.2 the issue or allotment of any shares in the capital of the Company or any Subsidiary Undertaking of the Company or the creation of any security or the grant of any option or rights to subscribe in respect thereof or to convert any instrument into such shares;
 - 7.1.3 the reduction of the share capital or variation of the rights attaching to any class of shares in the capital of the Company or any Subsidiary Undertaking of the Company or any redemption, purchase or other acquisition by the Company of any shares or other securities of the Company or any Subsidiary Undertaking of the Company;
 - 7.1.4 the sale, transfer or disposal of the whole or a substantial part of the Business, or any dilution of the Company's interest in any Subsidiary Undertaking;
 - 7.1.5 the formation of any Subsidiary Undertaking or the acquisition of or investment in any other company or business;
 - 7.1.6 the merger or amalgamation of the Company or any Subsidiary Undertaking of the Company with any other company or the participation in any partnership or joint venture;

- 7.1.7 the incurring of any borrowings or other indebtedness (other than normal trade credit) or the giving of any guarantees;
- 7.1.8 the approval and/or adoption of any Business Plan or annual budget or any variation of the Business Plan; or annual budget from time to time;
- 7.1.9 the entering into any purchase, sale, lease or licence of any freehold or leasehold property (other than in accordance with the Business Plan);
- 7.1.10 disposing of any assets of the Company or any Subsidiary Undertaking;
- 7.1.11 any changes to the Articles of the Company or any Subsidiary Undertaking of the Company;
- 7.1.12 entering into any arrangement, contract or transaction between the Company or any Subsidiary Undertaking of the Company and any third party which has an annual contract value in excess of £150,000 (or the equivalent amount in any other currency);
- 7.1.13 any change of the Company's name, auditors, bankers, accounting reference date:
- 7.1.14 entering into an agreement to do any of the foregoing.

8 Production of accounts

- 8.1 The Company shall instruct its auditors or accountants(as applicable) to prepare and audit a balance sheet of the Company, as at the Annual Accounts Date each year and a consolidated profit and loss account of the Company, for the 12 month financial period ending on the Annual Accounts Date each year to be presented to the Shareholders within 3 calendar months after the end of the period to which such accounts relate. The balance sheet and profit and loss account will be accompanied by an annual report.
- 8.2 All accounts referred to in this clause shall be prepared in pounds sterling and in accordance with applicable law and generally accepted accounting standards, principles and practices in the United Kingdom.

9 Anti-corruption

9.1 In this clause:

Adequate Procedures means adequate procedures, as referred to in section 7(2) of the Bribery Act 2010 and any guidance issued by the Secretary of State under section 9 of the Bribery Act 2010;

Associated Person means in relation to a party to this Agreement, any person (including an officer, employee, agent or subsidiary) who performs services for or on behalf of that party;

Corrupt Activity means extortion, fraud, deception, collusion, cartels, abuse of power, embezzlement, trading in influence, money-laundering or any similar activity including without limitation any activity, practice or conduct which would constitute an offence under sections 1, 2 or 6 Bribery Act;

- 9.2 Each party declares and undertakes to the other parties that:
 - 9.2.1 it has not and will not in relation to the Company or the operation of the Business, engage in any Corrupt Activity;
 - 9.2.2 it will not authorise or acquiesce in or turn a blind eye to, any Corrupt Activity;
 - 9.2.3 it has and will maintain in place, or in the case of the Company it will put and maintain in place, Adequate Procedures designed to prevent any Associated Person from undertaking any conduct that would give rise to an offence under section 7 of the Bribery Act 2010;
 - 9.2.4 it has not and will not engage in any activity, practice or conduct which could place the Company or any other party in breach of section 7(1) Bribery Act;
 - 9.2.5 from time to time, at the reasonable request of the other party, it will confirm in writing that it has complied with its undertakings under this clause 9.2 and will provide any information reasonably requested by the other party in support of such compliance; and
 - 9.2.6 it will ensure that its Associated Persons will comply with its commitments under this clause 9.
- 9.3 Breach of any of the undertakings in this clause shall be deemed to be a material breach of this Agreement.

10 Transfer of Shares

- 10.1 The Directors and the Company shall procure that no person who acquires Shares in the Company (whether by transfer or allotment or otherwise) (a **New Shareholder**) shall be registered as their holder unless or until he has entered into a Deed of Adherence.
- A New Shareholder who has entered into a Deed of Adherence in accordance with clause 10.1 shall have all the rights and obligations as if he were an original party to this Agreement in the capacity of a Shareholder.

11 Conflict with the Articles

In the event of any ambiguity or discrepancy between the provisions of this Agreement and the Articles, then it is the intention of the Shareholder that the provisions of this Agreement shall prevail. Accordingly, each Shareholder (so far as each is able) shall take all such steps and do all such acts and things as may be necessary or desirable, including, without limitation, exercising all voting and other rights and powers of control available to it in relation to the Company, so as to give effect to the provisions of this Agreement and shall further if necessary procure (insofar as it is able to do so by the exercise of those rights and powers) any required amendment to the Articles.

12 No fetter

Nothing in this Agreement shall operate to bind the Company to the extent that it constitutes an unlawful fetter on any statutory power of the Company (but this shall not

affect the validity of the relevant provision as between the other parties to this Agreement or the respective obligations of such other parties as between themselves under clause 11).

13 **Duration and termination**

- 13.1 This Agreement shall continue in full force and effect, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Shareholders until the earlier of the following events:
 - 13.1.1 each of the Shareholders agrees in writing to terminate this Agreement;
 - an effective resolution is passed or a binding order is made for the winding up of the Company;
 - 13.1.3 all of the Shares become beneficially owned by one person;

provided that this Agreement shall cease to have effect as regards any Shareholder who ceases to hold any Shares in the Company, except for any provisions which are expressed to continue in force thereafter.

- Termination of this Agreement pursuant to this clause shall not release any party from any liability which at the time of termination has already accrued to another party or which may accrue after termination of this Agreement in respect of any act or omission prior to such termination.
- 13.3 Upon termination of this Agreement pursuant to clause 13.1 the Shareholders shall do all such acts and things as are necessary to procure (so far as they are able) (including, without limitation, the holding of an general meeting of the Company and the passing of appropriate shareholder resolutions) that the Company be wound up.

14 Confidentiality

- 14.1 This clause applies to:
 - 14.1.1 all information of a confidential nature disclosed (whether in writing, verbally or by any other means and whether directly or indirectly) by one party to one of the other parties whether before or after the date of this Agreement;
 - 14.1.2 any information concerning the business affairs of one party or any member of its Group or other information confidential to that party or its Group which one of the other parties learns as a result of the relationship between the parties pursuant to this Agreement;

including any information relating to any party's products, operations, processes, plans or intentions, product information, know-how, design rights, trade secrets, market opportunities and business affairs (together, **Confidential Information).**

- 14.2 In this clause, in relation to a particular item of Confidential Information:
 - 14.2.1 the **Disclosing Party** means the party by whom (or on whose behalf) that Confidential Information is disclosed or (where there is no such disclosure) the party to whom the Confidential Information relates, or to whom the Confidential

Information is proprietary or who otherwise desires that the confidentiality of the Confidential Information is respected; and

- 14.2.2 the **Receiving Party** means the other party.
- During the term of this Agreement and after termination of this Agreement for any reason whatsoever, the Receiving Party shall:
 - 14.3.1 keep the Confidential Information confidential;
 - 14.3.2 not disclose the Confidential Information to any other person other than with the prior written consent of the Disclosing Party or in accordance with this clause 14; and
 - 14.3.3 not use the Confidential Information for any purpose other than the performance of its obligations and the exercise of its rights under this Agreement.
- 14.4 Notwithstanding clause 14.3, the Receiving Party may disclose Confidential Information as follows:
 - 14.4.1 to its professional advisers (each, a **Recipient**) providing the Receiving Party ensures that each Recipient is made aware of and complies with all the Receiving Party's obligations of confidentiality under this Agreement as if the Recipient was a party to this Agreement; and
 - to other parties to this Agreement, and where disclosure is required by law, by any court of competent jurisdiction or by any appropriate regulatory body.
- 14.5 This clause 14 shall not apply to any Confidential Information which:
 - 14.5.1 is at the date of this Agreement in, or at a later date comes into, the public domain other than through breach of this Agreement by the Receiving Party or any Recipient;
 - 14.5.2 was known by the Receiving Party before receipt from (or on behalf of) the Disclosing Party (or, as appropriate, before the Receiving Party learnt of the same pursuant to this Agreement) and which had not previously been obtained under an obligation of confidence; or
 - 14.5.3 subsequently comes lawfully into the Receiving Party's possession from a third party, free of any obligation of confidence.
- The Company acknowledges that the Shareholder is subject to the requirements of the FOIA, the Environmental Information Regulations and other access to information and propriety controls as provided in legislation, and shall facilitate the Shareholder's compliance with its Information disclosure requirements pursuant to and in the manner provided for in clauses 14.7 and 14.10.
- 14.7 If the Shareholder receives a Request for Information in relation to Information that the Company is holding and which the Shareholder does not hold itself, the Shareholder shall refer to the Company such Request for Information as soon as practicable and in any

event within five (5) Business Days of receiving a Request for Information, and the Company shall:

- 14.7.1 provide the Shareholder with a copy of all such Information in the form that the Shareholder requires as soon as practicable and in any event within 10 Business Days (or such other period as the Shareholder acting reasonably may specify) of the Shareholder's request; and
- 14.7.2 provide all necessary assistance as reasonably requested by the Shareholder to enable the Shareholder to respond to a Request for Information within the time for compliance set out in Section 10 of the FOIA or Regulation 5 of the Environmental Information Regulations.
- 14.8 Following notification under clause 14.7, and up until such time as the Company has provided the Shareholder with all the Information specified in clause 14.7, the Company may make representations to the Shareholder as to whether or not or on what basis Information requested should be disclosed, and whether further information should reasonably be provided in order to identify and locate the information requested, provided always that the Shareholder shall be responsible for determining, at its absolute discretion:
 - 14.8.1 whether Information is exempt from disclosure under the FOIA and the Environmental Information Regulations; and
 - 14.8.2 whether Information is to be disclosed in response to a Request for Information, and in no event shall the Company respond directly to a Request for Information.
- The Company acknowledges that (notwithstanding the provisions of clause 14.1) the Shareholder may, acting in accordance with the Department of Constitutional Affairs' Code of Practice on the Discharge of Functions of Public Authorities under part I of the Freedom of Information Act 2000, be obliged under the FOIA or the Environmental Information Regulations to disclose Information concerning the Managers or the Company:
 - 14.9.1 in certain circumstances without consulting with the Company; or
 - 14.9.2 following consultation with the Company and having taken its views into account.
- 14.10 The Company shall transfer to the Shareholder any Request for Information received by it as soon as practicable and in any event within 3 Business Days of receiving it.
- 14.11 The Company acknowledges that any lists provided which list or outline Confidential Information are of indicative value only and that the Shareholder may nevertheless be obliged to disclose Confidential Information in accordance with clause 14.9.

15 General

15.1 Except where this Agreement provides otherwise, each party shall pay its own costs relating to or in connection with the negotiation, preparation, execution and performance by it of this Agreement and of each agreement or document entered into pursuant to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

- No variation of this Agreement shall be valid unless it is in writing and signed by or on behalf of each of the parties.
- No delay, indulgence or omission in exercising any right, power or remedy provided by this Agreement or by law shall operate to impair or be construed as a waiver of such right, power or remedy or of any other right, power or remedy.
- No single or partial exercise or non-exercise of any right, power or remedy provided by this Agreement or by law shall preclude or restrict any other or further exercise of such rights, power or remedy or of any other right, power or remedy.
- 15.5 A waiver of a breach of any of the terms of this Agreement or of a default under this Agreement does not constitute a waiver of any other breach or default and shall not affect the other terms of this Agreement.
- A waiver of a breach of any of the terms of this agreement or of a default under this Agreement will not prevent a party from subsequently requiring compliance with the waived obligation.
- The rights and remedies provided by this Agreement are cumulative and are not exclusive of any rights, powers or remedies provided by law.
- The provisions of this Agreement insofar as they have not been performed at Completion shall remain in full force and effect notwithstanding Completion.
- 15.9 If any provision of this Agreement is or becomes illegal, invalid or unenforceable under the law of any jurisdiction, that shall not affect or impair:
 - 15.9.1 the legality, validity or enforceability in that jurisdiction of any other provision of this Agreement; or
 - the legality, validity or enforceability under the law of any other jurisdiction of that or any other provision of this Agreement.
- This Agreement, and the documents referred to in it, constitute the entire agreement and understanding between the parties and supersede any previous agreement, understanding or arrangement between the parties relating to the subject matter of this Agreement.
- 15.11 Each of the parties acknowledges and agrees that:
 - 15.11.1 in entering into this Agreement, and the documents referred to in it, it does not rely on, and shall have no remedy in respect of, any statement, representation, assurance, warranty or understanding of any person (whether party to this Agreement or not) other than as expressly set out in this Agreement or those documents;
 - 15.11.2 the only remedy available to it arising out of or in connection with this Agreement or its subject matter shall be for damages for breach of contract under the terms of this Agreement;
 - 15.11.3 nothing in this clause shall operate to limit or exclude any liability for fraud.

15.12 Save for a person who enters into a Deed of Adherence pursuant to clause 10.2, no person who is not a party to this Agreement shall have any right to enforce this Agreement or any agreement or document entered into pursuant to this Agreement pursuant to the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999.

16 **Assignment**

This Agreement is personal to the parties and neither party shall assign, transfer, charge, make the subject of a trust or deal in any other manner with this Agreement or any of its rights or obligations under it, or purport to do any of the same, nor sub-contract any or all of its obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other party. Each party is entering into this Agreement for its benefit and not for the benefit of another person.

17 No partnership or agency

Nothing in this Agreement is intended to or shall operate to create a partnership between the parties, or to authorise any party to act as agent for any other or to establish any other fiduciary relationship between the parties. No party shall have authority to act in the name or on behalf of or otherwise to bind the other party in any way (including but not limited to the making of any representation or warranty, the assumption of any obligation or liability and the exercise of any right or power).

18 Notices

- 18.1 Any notice or other communication given under this Agreement:
 - 18.1.1 shall be in writing;
 - 18.1.2 shall be signed by or on behalf of the party giving it;
 - 18.1.3 shall be served by delivering it by hand or sending it by pre-paid recorded delivery or registered post (or registered airmail in the case of an address for service outside the United Kingdom) or by fax at the address or fax number set out in clause 18.2 of the party due to receive it and marked for the attention of the person named in clause 18.2 (or at such other address or fax number or marked for the attention of such other person as last notified in writing to the other parties;
 - 18.1.4 shall be deemed to have been received:
 - (a) if delivered by hand, at the time of actual delivery;
 - (b) in the case of pre-paid recorded delivery or registered post, two Business Days after the date of posting;
 - (c) in the case of registered airmail, five Business Days after the date of posting; and
 - (d) in the case of fax, at the time of completion of transmission.
- 18.2 The addresses and fax numbers of the parties for the purposes of clause 18.1 are:

Huntingdonshire District Council

Address: Pathfinder House, St Mary's Street, Huntingdon, United Kingdom, PE29 3TN

For the attention of: Joanne Lancaster

HDC Ventures Limited

Address: Pathfinder House, St Mary's Street, Huntingdon, United Kingdom, PE29 3TN

For the attention of: Anthony Roberts (Company Secretary)

- To prove delivery it shall be sufficient to prove that the envelope containing the notice was addressed to the address of the relevant party set out in clause 18.2 (or as otherwise notified in writing by that party under clause 18.2) and delivered either to that address or into the custody of the postal authorities as a pre-paid recorded delivery, registered post or airmail letter, or that the notice was transmitted by fax to the fax number of the relevant party set out in clause 18.2 (or as otherwise notified in writing by that party under clause 18.2).
- In this clause if deemed receipt occurs before 9am on a Business Day the notice shall be deemed to have been received at 9am on that day, and if deemed receipt occurs after 5pm on a Business Day, or on a day which is not a Business Day, the notice shall be deemed to have been received at 9am on the next Business Day.
- 18.5 For the avoidance of doubt, a notice or other communication given under this Agreement shall not be validly served if sent by e-mail.

19 **Counterparts**

19.1 This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties on separate counterparts (which may be facsimile copies), but shall not take effect until each party has executed at least one counterpart. Each counterpart shall constitute an original, and all the counterparts together shall constitute a single agreement.

20 Applicable law

- 20.1 The parties agree that this Agreement and any dispute or claim arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, its negotiation or its subject matter, or any non-contractual obligation arising in connection with the foregoing, shall be governed by and construed in accordance with English law.
- 20.2 Each of the parties irrevocably agrees to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of England and Wales in relation to any claim or matter arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, its negotiation or its subject matter, or any non-contractual obligation arising in connection with the foregoing.

This Agreement has been executed on the date stated at the beginning of this Agreement.							

Schedule 1

Deed of adherence

Deed of adherence

-				
Ву [Limited] a company	incorporated in Eng	gland and Wales (r	egistered number [
]) whose registered	office is at [] (the New Share	holder) in favour of
the persons whose	names and addresses	are set out in the S	Schedule to this Dea	ed (the Continuing
Parties).				

120 1

Introduction

dated [

- (A) This Deed is supplemental to a Shareholders' Agreement dated 2017 between [A], [B] and the Company (the **Shareholders' Agreement**) and to [insert details of any subsequent Deeds of Adherence or Amendment].
- (B) The New Shareholder wishes to [subscribe for] [acquire] [[A]/[B] Shares in the capital of the Company [from *Transferor*].
- (C) Clause [] of the Shareholders' Agreement provides that no person other than a Shareholder shall acquire shares in the Company (whether by way of transfer or allotment or otherwise) unless he enters into a Deed of Adherence in substantially the form of this Deed.

Agreed terms

- The New Shareholder confirms that [he/it] has been given a copy of the Shareholders' Agreement and covenants with the Continuing Parties to observe, perform and be bound by every provision of the Shareholders' Agreement (other than the Excluded Clauses) as if the New Shareholder had been an original party to it.
- In this Deed the Excluded Clauses shall mean clauses [insert numbers of clauses to be excluded ie ones containing a personal obligation] of the Shareholders' Agreement.
- Unless the context requires otherwise, words and expressions defined in the Shareholders' Agreement shall have the same meanings when used in this Deed.
- 4 This Deed shall be governed by and construed in accordance with English law.

This Deed of Adherence has been executed as a deed and is delivered and takes effect on the date stated at the beginning of it.

Schedule

[Insert names and addresses of Continuing Parties]

Execution page

executed as a deed by affixing THE COMMON SEAL of Huntingdonshire District Council

in the presence of			
[Authorised signatory]		
[Authorised signatory]		
executed as a deed)		
HDC Ventures Limi	ted)	
acting by	, a director)	
in the presence of:)	
			Director
witness signature:			
name:			
address:			
occupation:			